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October 27, 2014

Mr. Jeff Brooks

General Manager

Metro Machine Corporation DBA
General Dynamics NASSCO-Norfolk
PO Box 1860

Norfolk, Virginia 23523

Location: Norfolk
Registration No.: 60134
AFS Id. No.: 51-710-00034

Dear Mr. Brooks:

Attached is a significant modification to your January 23, 2013 Title V permit to operate your ship repair facility
pursuant to 9 VAC 5 Chapter 80 of the Virginia Regulations for the Control and Abatement of Air Pollution. This permit
incorporates provisions from the permits dated January 3, 1986, August 1, 1984 (amended April 23, 1986), and June 26,
2002.

The permit contains legally enforceable conditions. Failure to comply may result in a Notice of Violation and civil
penalty. Please read all permit conditions carefully.

In evaluating the application and arriving at a final decision to issue this permit, the Department deemed the
application complete on June 6, 2014, and solicited written public comments by placing a newspaper advertisement in the
Virginian-Pilot newspaper on Tuesday, September 9, 2014. The thirty day comment period (provided for in 9 VAC 5-80-270)
expired on Thursday, October 9, 2014, with no comments having been received in this office.

This approval to operate does not relieve Metro Machine Corporation DBA General Dynamics NASSCO-Norfolk of
the responsibility to comply with all other local, state, and federal permit regulations.

Issuance of this permit is a case decision. The Regulations, at 9 VAC 5-170-200, provide that you may request a
formal hearing from this case decision by filing a petition with the Board within 30 days after this permit is mailed or delivered
to you. Please consult that and other relevant provisions for additional requirements for such requests.
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Additionally, as provided by Rule 2A:2 of the Supreme Court of Virginia, you have 30 days from the date you
actually received this permit or the date on which it was mailed to you, whichever occurred first, within which to initiate an
appeal to court by filing a Notice of Appeal with:

David K. Paylor, Director
Department of Environmental Quality
PO Box 1105

Richmond, VA 23218-1105

In the event that you receive this permit by mail, three days are added to the period in which to file an appeal. Please refer
to Rule 2A of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia for additional information including filing dates and the required
content of the Notice of Appeal.

If you have any questions concerning this permit, please contact Laura D. Corl by phone at
(757) 518-2178 or by e-mail at laura.corl@deq.virginia.gov.

Sincerely,

Troy D. Breathwaite
Regional Air Permits Manager

TDB/LDC/60134_008_14_T5FOP_Reopen_cvrltr_Metro Machine_NASSCO-Norfolk.docx

Attachment: Permit

cc: Manager, Data Analysis (electronic file submission)
Manager/Inspector, Air Compliance
Chief, Air Enforcement Branch (3AP13), U.S. EPA, Region Il (electronic file submission)
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Federal Operating Permit
Article1

This permit is based upon the requirements of Title V of the Federal Clean Air Act and Chapter 80, Article 1 of the
Commonwealth of Virginia Regulations for the Control and Abatement of Air Pollution. Until such time asthis
permit is reopened and revised, modified, revoked, terminated or expires, the permittee is authorized to operate in
accordance with the terms and conditions contained herein. This permit isissued under the authority of Title 10.1,
Chapter 13, §10.1-1322 of the Air Pollution Control Law of Virginia. This permit isissued consistent with the
Administrative Process Act and 9 VAC 5-80-50 through 9 VAC 5-80-300 of the State Air Pollution Control Board
Regulations for the Control and Abatement of Air Pollution of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Authorization to operate a Stationary Source of Air Pollution as described in this permit is hereby granted to:

Permittee Name: Metro Machine Corporation DBA
General Dynamics NASSCO-Norfolk
Facility Name: Metro Machine Corporation
Facility Location: 200 Ligon Street
Norfolk, Virginia 23523
Registration Number: 60134
Permit Number: TRO-60134

This permit includes the following programs:

Federally Enforceable Requirements - Clean Air Act (Pages 3 through 29)
State Only Enfor ceable Requir ements (Page 29)

Octaober 27, 2014 January 31, 2018
Modification Effective Date Expiration Date

October 27, 2014
MariaR. Nold Signature Date

Table of Contents, Page 2
Permit Conditions, Pages 3-29
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|. Facility Information

Permittee

Metro Machine Corporation DBA
General Dynamics NASSCO-Norfolk
PO Box 1860

Norfolk, Virginia 23523

Responsible Official
Jeff Brooks
General Manager

Facility

Metro Machine Corporation DBA
General Dynamics NASSCO-Norfolk
200 Ligon Street

Norfolk, Virginia 23523

Contact Person

Donna Watkins, CHMM
Environmental Manager
(757) 543-6801 ext. 506

County-Plant Identification Number: 51-710-00034
Facility Description: NAICS 336611 — Ship Building and Repairing

Thisfacility isengaged in activities related to ship building and repair. These activities include abrasive blasting,
applying marine coatings, € ectroplating, woodworking, paint mixing, and degreasing. The facility also includes
boilers producing steam for use onboard vessel s while docked, generators, compressors, fire pumps, cranes,
portable welders, portable heaters and forklifts. Other processes include air conditioner maintenance, use of
adhesives, storage tanks and containers, gasoline and diesdl fuel loading pumps, and an oil/water separator and
treatment system.

This facility isamajor source of PM/PM 4, VOC, NOy, and HAPs. This sourceislocated in an attainment area for
al pollutants. The facility currently has three minor NSR permits. one was issued on August 1, 1984, and amended
on April 23, 1986; another was issued on January 3, 1986; and the third was issued on June 26, 2002. The sourceis
also subject to the Shipyard MACT, 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart 11, to the RICE MACT, 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart
ZZ7Z, and to the Boiler MACT, 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart DDDDD. It is aso subject to the ICE NSPS, 40 CFR
Part 60, Subpart I111.
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II. Emission Units
Equipment to be operated consists of:
Emission I . . ) - Pollution Control Device | Pollutant Applicable
Unit ID Stack ID | Emission Unit Description Size/Rated Capacity (PCD) Description Controlled | Permit Date
Boiler Operations
. 8/1/1984,
1 1 Kewanee boiler H35—750—_GOZ 2 ommBtwhr | e | amended
(natural gas/ No. 2 fuel oil) (1984) 4/23/1986
Kewanee boiler H3S500-G
2 2 (natural gas/ No. 2 fuel oil) (1986) 09mmBtwhr e e 1/3/1986
Internal Combustion Engines Oper ations
Caterpillar Model 35086 DITA, 8 cylinder,
4 4 4cycle, turbocharged, diesel generator 1,087.8HP |- e ] e
(installed 2000) MACT 2727
Caterpillar, Model #1300H DLQ CA, diesel air 400 HP
5 5 compressor engine (mfd 1994) (installed 2012) @180mpm ||
MACT 2772 P
#1 Caterpillar, Model D3516B, 16 cylinders, 2514 HP
98 98 4 cycle, turbocharged, diesel generator (2002) 1%325 kw |\ 6/26/2002
MACT 72777
#2 Caterpillar Model D3516B, 16 cylinders, 2514 HP
99 99 4 cycle, turbocharged, diesel generator (2002) 1é25 kw | 6/26/2002
MACT 72777
Caterpillar diesdl fueled Gen Set (2013) | oon i 120wy |
100 100 NSPS 1111, MACT ZZZZ 230 HP, 150 KW
Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Oper ations
Pier sideinterior / top side hand roll / brush and 7 aallong/hour containment screens
21 | - airless spray painting (constructed 1971) (2gpai nters) when airless spray guns | PM/PM | -
are used
20 | Outside machine shop hand roll / brush touch-up | 3 gdllons/hour | | |
painting (constructed 1971) (2 painters)
23 | Paint shop priming — 60% hand roll / brush and 7gdlonghour | | |
40% airless spray (constructed 1971) (2 painters)
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LEJ::ItSISIS) " | Stack ID | Emission Unit Description Size/Rated Capacity* E’Iaoggt)lggc?in;tricg)lnDewce Eglrl]ltjrt?”ted ég‘:nhﬁaggete
SPEEDE Dry dock - abrasive blasting and (QfGQaIa:?]?jgour containment screens VOC
28 | - painting of ship underwater hull and freeboard 1 00% foot/hour when blasting or airless PM /P,M 6/26/2002
surfaces (constructed 2002) OOV SQUArE100 spray guns are used 10
(8 operators)
Degreaser Operations
cover for degreaser and
24 | - Mai ntenance shop degreaser (constructed 1990) 20 gallons 15-second parts voCc | -
draining
. ) cover for degreaser and
= %Jgtg)de machine shop degreaser (constructed 40 gallons 15-second parts VoG |t
draining
. . cover for degreaser and
25h E)gus';g)de machine shop degreasers (2) (constructed 40 gallons 15-second parts VOC
draining
cover for degreaser and
27a | - Inside machine shop degreaser (constructed 1990) | 20 gallons 15-second parts voCc | -
draining
cover for degreaser and
27b Inside machine shop degreaser (constructed 1990) | 20 gallons 15-second parts VOC
draining
. . Dishwasher type unit
29 Inside machine shop degreaser (constructed 2014) | 180 gallons sealed while operating NA

*The Size/Rated capacity is provided for informational purposes only, and is not an applicable requirement.
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[I1. Boiler Operations— (Units#1 and #2)

A. Limitations

1

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Limitations - The boilers shall consume no
more than the following:

Unit #1 - 95,000,000 cubic feet of natural gas or 710,000 gallons of No. 2 fuel oil per year;
Unit #2 - 167 million cubic feet of natural gas or 1,200,000 gallons of No. 2 fuel oil per year;

Fuel consumption shall be calculated monthly as the sum of each consecutive 12-month period.
Compliance for the consecutive 12-month period shall be demonstrated monthly by adding the total for
the most recently completed calendar month to the individual monthly totals for the preceding 11
months.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, Condition 4 of the 1/3/86 permit and Condition 4 of the 8/1/84 permit amended on
4/23/86)

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Unit #1) - Limitations - Emissions from the operation of the
boiler shall not exceed the limitations specified below:

Particulate Matter 0.02 Ib/mmBtu 0.5 Ibs/hr 0.8 tong/yr
Sulfur Dioxide 0.6 Ib/mmBtu 19.1 Ibs/hr 30.2 tons/yr
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 5 of the 8/1/84 permit amended on 4/23/86)

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Unit #2) - Limitations - Emissions from the operation of the
boiler shall not exceed the limitations specified below:

Particulate Matter 0.1 Ib/mmBtu 0.4 Ibs/hr 1.2 tong/yr
Sulfur Dioxide 0.6 Ib/mmBtu 12.7 Ibs/hr 42.6 tong/yr
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Specific Condition 5 of the 1/3/86 permit)

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Limitations - The approved fuels for the
boilers are natural gasand No. 2 fuel oil. No. 2 fuel oil may only be used in cases where gas
curtailment has taken place, in a gas supply emergency and for periodic testing of No. 2 fuel oil. A
change in the fuels may require a permit to modify and operate.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 6 of the 8/1/84 permit amended on 4/23/86 and Condition 6 of the
1/3/86 permit)

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Limitations - Visible Emissions from each of
the boiler stacks shall not exceed 20% opacity except during one six-minute period in any one hour in
which visible emissions shall not exceed 30% opacity as determined by the EPA Method 9 (reference
40 CFR 60, Appendix A). This condition applies at al times except during startup, shutdown, and
malfunction.

(9 VAC 5-50-80 and 9 VAC 5-80-110)

Requirements by Reference (MACT) — Except where this permit is more restrictive than the
applicable requirement, the boilers (Units #1 and #2) shall be operated in compliance with the
requirements of 40 CFR 63, Subpart DDDDD. The permittee shal be incompliance with this condition
by January 31, 2016.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-60-100 and 63.7495(b))
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B. Monitoring

7.

Boiler Operation Requirements - (Units#1 and #2) — Monitoring - The permittee shall perform a
monthly visual emissions observation on each boiler stack during normal operations. If such visua
observation indicates any visible emissions, the permittee shall take corrective actions to eliminate the
visible emissions. If such corrective action fails to eliminate visible emissions, the permittee shall
conduct avisible emissions evaluation (VEE) using 40 CFR Part 60, Appendix A, Method 9 for six
minutes. If the six-minute VEE opacity average exceeds 10% opacity, the VEE for that unit shall
continue for an additional 12 minutes. If any of the six-minute averages during the 18 minutes exceeds
20% opacity limit, the VEE for that unit shall continue for one hour from initiation on the stack to
determine compliance with the opacity limit. The permittee shall record the details of the visua
emissions observations, VEE, and any corrective actions. The records shall be kept at the facility and
made available for inspection by the DEQ for the most recent five (5) year period.

(9 VAC 5-80-110)

Annual Tune-up — The permittee shall perform annua tune-ups on the boilers (Units#1 and #2) in
accordance with Table 3 of 40 CFR 63 Subpart DDDDD and 64.7540(a)(10). Each tune-up shall be
performed no more than 13 months after the previous tune-up. The permittee shall bein compliance
with this condition by the date specified in 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart DDDDD.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and 9 VAC 5-60-100)

Energy Assessment — The permittee shall perform a one-time energy assessment of each boiler (Units
#1 and #2) in accordance with Table 3 of 40 CFR 63 Subpart DDDDD. The permittee shall bein
compliance with this condition by the date specified in 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart DDDDD.

(9 VAC 5-80-1100 and 9 VAC 5-60-100)

C. Recordkeeping

10.

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Recor dkeeping -The permittee shall maintain
records of al emission data and operating parameters necessary to demonstrate compliance with this
permit. The content and format of such records shall be arranged with the Director, TRO Regional
Office. These records shall include, but are not limited to:

a.  Theannual throughput of natural gas (in million cubic feet) and No. 2 fue oil (in 12000 gallons) for
the boilers (Units#1 and #2) which shall be calculated monthly as the sum of each consecutive 12-
month period. Compliance for the consecutive 12-month period shall be demonstrated monthly by
adding the total for the most recently completed calendar month to the individual monthly totals for
the preceding 11 months.

b. Records of annual tune-ups for the boilers and the one-time energy assessment of each boiler.

c. Records of visual emissions observations, visible emissions evaluations, and any corrective action
taken.

These records shall be available on site for inspection by the DEQ and shall be current for the most
recent (5) years.
(9 VAC 5-50-50 and 9 VAC 5-80-110)
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D. Reports

11.

12.

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Reporting - The permittee shall sendin
notifications required to show compliance to the Boiler MACT:

a Initial Notification

b. Annual notification of compliance status in accordance with 63.7545(e) and (f) and 63.7550(b) and
(©).
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-60-100 and 40 CFR 63.7545 and 63.7550)

Boiler Operation Requirements- (Units#1 and #2) - Gas Curtailment Notification - The permittee
must submit a notification of aternative fuel use within 48 hours of the declaration of each period of
natural gas curtailment or supply interruption, as defined in 863.7575. The notification must include
the following information: company name and address; identification of the affected unit(s); reason you
are unable to use natural gas or equivalent fuel, including the date when the natura gas curtailment was
declared or the natural gas supply interruption began; type of aternative fuel that you intend to use; and
the dates when the alternative fuel useis expected to begin and end. Notification should be sent to
DEQ, Director, Tidewater Regiona Office with a copy sent to:

Associate Director

Office of Air Enforcement and Compliance Assistance (3AP20)
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency

Region 111

1650 Arch Street

Philadel phia, PA 19103-2029

(9VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-60-100 and 40 CFR 63.7545)
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V. Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) Requirements— (Units#4, #5, #98, #99 and
#100)

A. Limitations

13. ICE Requirements- (Units#4, #5, and #100) - Limitations - Each emergency IC engine shall not
operate more than 500 hours per year, calculated monthly as the sum of each consecutive 12-month
period. Compliance for the consecutive 12-month period shall be demonstrated monthly by adding the
total for the most recently completed calendar month to the individual monthly totals for the preceding
11 months.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 5 of the 6/26/02 permit)

14. ICE Requirements- (Units#98 and #99) - Limitations - These engines have been designated as
‘Limited Use' engines for compliance with the Rice MACT (40 CFR Part 63, Subpart ZZZZ). Each IC
engine shall not operate more than 100 hours per calendar year, calculated monthly.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and 63.6590(b)(3)(iv))

15. ICE Requirements- (Units#4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Limitations - Each ICE engine shall have a
non-resettable hour meter installed.
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-50-410, 9 VAC 5 60-100, 40 CFR 60.4209(a) and 63.6625)

16. ICE Requirements- (Units#4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Limitations - The approved fuel for the IC
enginesisdiesel fuel. A changein the fuel may require a permit to modify and operate.
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 6 of the 6/26/02 permit)

17.  ICE Requirements- (Units#4, #5, #98 and #99) - Limitations - The diesel fuel shall meet the
specifications below:

DIESEL FUEL which meetsthe ASTM specifications for numbers 1 or 2 fuel ail
Maximum sulfur content per shipment: 0.05%

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 7 of the 6/26/02 permit)

18. ICE Requirements- (Unit #100) - Limitations - The diesel fuel shall meet the specifications below:

DIESEL FUEL which meetsthe ASTM specifications for numbers 1 or 2 fuel oil
Maximum sulfur content per shipment: 0.0015 %
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and 9 VAC 5-50-410 and 60.4207(b))
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I CE Requirements- (Units#98 and #99) - Limitations - Emissions from the operation of the dry
dock 1C engines shall not exceed the limits specified bel ow:

Each Combined
Particulate Matter (filterable) 1.8 Ibs/hr 0.9 tong/yr
PM-10 (filterable) 1.5 Ibs/hr 0.7 tonglyr
Sulfur Dioxide 1.0 Ibs/hr 0.5 ton/yr
Nitrogen Oxides (as NOy) 60.3 Ibs/hr 30.2 tons/yr
Carbon Monoxide 13.8 Ibs/hr 7.0 tons/yr
Volatile Organic Compounds 1.6 Ibs/hr 0.8 tong/yr

These emissions are derived from the estimated overall emission contribution from operating limits.
Exceedance of the operating limits shall be considered credible evidence of the exceedance of emission
limits. Compliance with these emission limits may be determined as stated in Conditions 13, 16, 17,
and 20.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 9 of the 6/26/02 permit)

I CE Requirements - (Units#4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Limitations - Visible Emissions from the
each of the IC engine stacks shall not exceed 20% opacity except during one six-minute period in any
one hour in which visible emissions shall not exceed 30% opacity as determined by the EPA Method 9
(reference 40 CFR 60, Appendix A). This condition applies at al times except during startup,
shutdown, and malfunction.

(9 VAC 5-50-80 and 9 VAC 5-80-110)

| CE Requirements - (Unit #100) - Limitations - Except where this permit is more restrictive than the
applicable requirement, the IC engine (Unit #100) shall be operated in compliance with the
requirements of 40 CFR 63, Subpart ZZZZ, by complying with 40 CFR 60, Subpart I111.

a.  Comply with the fuel requirementsin Condition 18;
b. Maintain certification that the manufacturer certifies that the engine meets the following:
i. Theemission standardsin 40 CFR 60, Subpart 89, Subpart B (89.112and 89.113).

NMHC + NOx 4.0 g/KW-hr or 7.1 g/HP-hr;
(6(0) 3.5 g/KW-hr or 4.9 g/HP-hr;
PM 0.20 g/KW-hr or 0.60 g/HP-hr;

ii. Exhaust opacity shall not exceed:
(1.) 20% during the acceleration mode;
(2.) 15% during the lugging mode; and
(3.) 50% during the peaks in either the acceleration or lugging modes.
Opacity levels are measured and cal culated in accordance with 40 CFR Part 86, Subpart I.
c. Operating practices:

i. Operate and maintain the stationary Cl internal combustion engine and control device
according to the manufacturer's emissions related written instructions;

ii. Change only those emission related settings that are permitted by the manufacturer; and
iii. Meet the requirements of 40 CFR pars 89, 94, and/or 1068 as they apply to you.



22.

23.

Metro Machine Corporation
Permit Number: TRO-60134
October 27, 2014

Page 11

d. Emergency operations - Y ou may operate your emergency stationary RICE for the purpose of
maintenance checks and readiness testing for 100 hours each year, provided that the tests are
recommended by the manufacturer, the vendor, or the insurance company associated with the
engine. Required testing of such units should be minimized, but there is no time limit for routine
testing and maintenance.

€. You may operate your emergency stationary RICE for an additiona 50 hours per year in non-
emergency situations. The 50 hours of operation in nonemergency situations are counted as part of
the 100 hours per calendar year for maintenance and testing. The 50 hours per year for non-
emergency situations cannot be used for peak shaving or to generate income for afacility to supply
power to an electric grid or otherwise supply power as part of afinancia arrangement with another
entity.

(9 VAC 5-80-100 and 9 VAC 5-50-410)

I CE Requirements - (Unit #5) - Limitations - Except where this permit is more restrictive than the

applicable requirement, the IC engine (Unit #5) shall be operated in compliance with the requirements
of 40 CFR 63, Subpart ZZZZ, specifically,

Each existing emergency CI generator < 500 HP shall be in compliance with 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart
2777 by May 3, 2013. Each unit shall comply with the applicable:

a. Emission limitations as specified in 40 CFR 63.6602, Table 2c;
i.  Change ail and filter every 500 hours or annually whichever comes first;

ii. Inspect the air cleaner every 1,000 hours of operation or annually, whichever comes first and
replace as necessary;

iii. Inspect al hoses and belts every 500 hours of operation or annually, whichever comesfirst,
and replace as necessary; and

iv. Minimize the engine's time spent at idle and minimize the engine's startup time at startup to a
period needed for appropriate and safe loading of the engine, not to exceed 30 minutes, after
which time the non-startup emission limitations apply.

b. Fuel requirements as specified in 40 CFR 63.6604;

c. Monitoring, installation, collection, operation and maintenance requirements as specified in 40
CFR 63.6625(¢e), (f), (h), (i);

d. Continuous compliance requirements as specified in 40 CFR 63.6605 and 63.6640;
e. Recordkeeping requirements as specified in 63.6655;
f.  Reporting requirements as specified in the Footnote 1 of Table 2c¢; and

g. Requirements of the General Provisionslisted in 40 CFR Subpart A, except per 63.6645(a)(5), the
following do not apply: 63.7(b) and (c), 63.8(e), (f)(4) and (f)(6), and 63.9(b)-(e), (g) and (h).
(9 VAC 5-80-110)

I CE Requirements- (Unit #4) - Limitations - Except where this permit is more restrictive than the
applicable requirement, each IC engine (Unit #4) shall be operated in compliance with the requirements
of 40 CFR 63, Subpart ZZZZ, specifically, 40 CFR 63.6640(f)(2).

a. You may operate each emergency stationary RICE for100 hours per calendar the purpose of
maintenance checks and readiness testing, provided that the tests are recommended by the
manufacturer, the vendor, or the insurance company associated with the engine. Required testing
of such units should be minimized, but there is no time limit for routine testing and maintenance.
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b. You may operate each emergency stationary RICE for an additional 50 hours per year in non-
emergency situations. The 50 hours of operation in nonemergency situations are counted as part of
the 100 hours per calendar year for maintenance and testing. The 50 hours per year for non-
emergency situations cannot be used for peak shaving or to generate income for afacility to supply
power to an electric grid or otherwise supply power as part of afinancia arrangement with another
entity.

(9 VAC 5-80-1180, 9 VAC 5-60-90, and 9 VAC 5-60-100)

B. Monitoring

24.

25.

26.

27.

| CE Requirements — (Units #4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Monitoring - The permittee shall perform
an annual visual emissions observation on each IC engine stack during normal operations. If such
visual observation indicates any visible emissions, the permittee shall take corrective actionsto
eliminate the visible emissions. |f such corrective action fails to eliminate visible emissions, the
permittee shall conduct a visible emissions evaluation (VEE) using 40 CFR Part 60, Appendix A,
Method 9 for six minutes. |f the six-minute VEE opacity average exceeds 10% opacity, the VEE for
that unit shall continue for an additional 12 minutes. If any of the six-minute averages during the 18
minutes exceeds 20% opecity limit, the VEE for that unit shall continue for one hour from initiation on
the stack to determine compliance with the opacity limit. The permittee shall record the details of the
visual emissions observations, VEE, and any corrective actions. The records shall be kept at the
facility and made available for inspection by the DEQ for the most recent five (5) year period.

(9 VAC 5-80-110)

| CE Requirements — (Units#4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Monitoring - The permittee shall obtain a
certification from the fuel supplier with each shipment of diesel fuel. Each fuel supplier certification
shall include the following:

a. Thename of the fuel supplier;

b. Thedate on which the diesdl fuel was received,

c. Thevolume of diesdl fuel delivered in the shipment;
d

A statement that the diesel fuel complies with the American Society for Testing and Materials
specifications for numbers 1 or 2 fud oil; and

e. Thesulfur content of the diesel fuel.
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 8 of the 6/26/02 permit)

| CE Requirements— (Units#4, #5 and #100) - Monitoring - Each IC engine will be monitored for
the number of hours operated each month and the reason each engine operated. The permittee shall
record the date, the number of hours operated, the reason the unit was operated.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5 60-100 and 63.6625)

I CE Requirements— (Units#98 and #99) - M onitoring - Each IC engine will be monitored for the
number of hours operated each month and the number of hours operated since the beginning of each
calendar year.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-60-100 and 63.6625)
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C. Recordkeeping

28.

| CE Requirements — (Units #4, #5, #98, #99 and #100) - Recor dkeeping - The permittee shall
maintain records of all emission data and operating parameters necessary to demonstrate compliance
with this permit. The content and format of such records shall be arranged with the Director, TRO
Regiona Office. These records shal include, but are not limited to:

a. Annual hours of operation for each ICE (#4, #5 and #100), cal culated monthly as the sum of each
consecutive 12-month period. Compliance for the consecutive 12-month period shall be
demonstrated monthly by adding the total for the most recently completed calendar month to the
individual monthly totals for the preceding 11 months;

b. Monthly and total calendar year number of hours of operation for each Limited Use ICE (#98 and
#99);

All fuel supplier certifications,

Records of visual emissions observations, visible emissions evaluations, and any corrective action
taken;

e. Recordsto show compliance with NSPS 1111 and MACT ZZZZ; and
f.  Recordsfor al maintenance and tune-ups performed.

These records shall be available on site for inspection by the DEQ and shall be current for the most
recent five (5) years.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-50-410, 9 VAC 5-60-100 and Condition 11 of the 6/26/02 permit)
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V. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Oper ations (Units#21, #22, #23 and

#28)

A. Limitations

29.

30.

31

32.

33.

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #23 and #28) - Limitations- The
permittee shall establish, implement, and submit awritten policy and procedure for outdoor abrasive
blasting and spray painting.

(9 VAC 5-80-110)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #23 and #28) - Limitations- The
permittee shall take reasonabl e precautions to prevent particulate matter from becoming airborne
during outdoor abrasive blasting and spray painting operations. To minimize visible emissions and
fugitive emissions, the permittee shall:

a Install wind direction and wind speed instruments convenient to central shipyard outdoor abrasive
blasting and spray painting operations.

b. Minimize or, if necessary, terminate outdoor abrasive blasting operations or spray painting
operationsif wind direction and speed are such that the fugitive particulate matter from such
activities would be transported to adjacent property or waterways.

c. Terminate abrasive blasting or spray painting operations if the wind speed exceeds a sustained 25
mph unless effective containment methods are used or the wind direction is such that adjacent
property and waterways are not impacted.

d. Use adequate containment methods, such as curtains, shrouds or tarp enclosures, where possible
and practical, and locate the operations to minimize particulate matter from being transported to
adjacent property or waterways.

e. Useairless spray equipment and spray in a horizontal to down pattern to the maximum extent
possible and practicable.

(9VAC5-40-20 E, 9 VAC 5-40-90, and 9 VAC 5-80-110)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
VOC/VOHAP emissions from the painting operations shall be controlled by utilizing compliant
coatings.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 3 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
Each shipbuilding and ship repair operation is to be operated in compliance with the general provisions
of 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart A as specified in Table 1 of 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart I1.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.780, and Condition 12 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
The provisions of 40 CFR Part 63 Subpart 11 do not apply to “low-usage exempt” coatings used in
volumes of less than 52.8 gallons per year for each coating, and 264 gallons per year of all such
coatings. Coatings exempt under this condition shall be clearly labeled as “low-usage exempt”.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.781(b), and Condition 13 of the 6/26/02 permit)
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34. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
The provisions of 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart A pertaining to startups, shutdowns, and malfunctions, and
continuous monitoring do not apply unless an add-on control system is used to comply with 40 CFR
Part 63, Subpart 11.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.781(d), and Condition 14 of the 6/26/02 permit)

35. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
The permittee shall not cause or allow the application of any coating to a ship with an as-applied
Volatile Organic Hazardous Air Pollutant (VOHAP) content exceeding the applicable limit given in
Table 2 of 40 CFR Part 63 Subpart I1.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.783(a), and Condition 15 of the 6/26/02 permit)

36. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Oper ations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations
- The permittee shall ensure that:

a All handling and transfer of VOHAP-containing materialsto and from containers, tanks, vats,
drums, and piping systemsis conducted in a manner that minimizes spills.

b. All containers, tanks, vats, drums, and piping systems are free of cracks, holes, and other defects,
and remain closed unless materials are being added to or removed from them.
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.783(b), and Condition 16 of the 6/26/02 permit)

37. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Limitations-
Emissions from the painting operation for Emission Unit #28 only shall not exceed the limits specified

below:

Volatile Organic Compounds 97.0 tons/yr

VOHAPs (Individual or Combined) 97.0 tons/yr
Compliance with these emission limits may be determined as stated in Condition number C.43 of this
section.

(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 22 of the 6/26/02 permit)

B. Monitoring

38. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #23 and #28) - M onitoring-
Quarterly, when in operation, the exhaust from the outdoor abrasive blasting and painting operations
shall be observed by the permittee at the property line (waterline) for a period of not less than three
minutes for the presence of visible emissions in accordance with EPA Method 22. [If visible emissions
are observed, the permittee shall perform corrective actions to eliminate the cause of the visible
emissions. The permittee shall maintain alog of the date, time, location, name of person performing
the observation, whether or not visible emissions were detected, and any corrective actions taken, if
necessary. These records shall be available for inspection by the Department and shall be current for
the most recent five years.

(9 VAC 5-80-110)

39. Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Oper ations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Monitoring-
For each batch of coating that is received, the permittee shall:

a. Determine the coating category and the applicable VOHARP limit as specified in 40 CFR 63.783(a).

b. Certify the as-supplied VOC content of the batch of coating.
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.785(a), and Condition 17 of the 6/26/02 permit)
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Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Monitoring-
In lieu of testing each batch of coating, as applied, the permittee may determine compliance with the
VOHAP limits using any combination of the procedures described in 40 CFR 63.785(c)(1), (c)(2),
(©)(3), and (c)(4). The procedure used for each coating shall be determined and documented prior to
application.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.785(b)(1), and Condition 18 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Monitoring-
The results of any compliance demonstration using Method 24 shall take precedence over the results
using the procedures in 40 CFR 63.785(c)(1), (c)(2), or (¢c)(3).

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.785(b)(2), and Condition 19 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) - Monitoring-
The results of any compliance demonstration conducted using an approved test method to determine
VOHAP content shall take precedence over the results using the proceduresin 40 CFR 63.785(c)(4).

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.785(b)(3), and Condition 20 of the 6/26/02 permit)

C. Recordkeeping, and Reporting

43.

45,

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) -

Recor dkeeping - The permittee shall maintain records of emission data and operating parameters as
necessary to demonstrate compliance with this permit. The content and format of such records shall be
arranged with the Tidewater Regiona Office. These records shall include but are not limited to:

a.  Monthly and annual emissions calculationsto verify compliance with the VOC, individual, and
total HAP emission limitations in Condition A.37. The annual emissions shall be calculated
monthly as the sum of each consecutive 12-month period. Compliance for the consecutive 12-
month period shall be demonstrated monthly by adding the total for the most recently completed
calendar month to the individual monthly totals for the preceding 11 months;

b. Records of wind speed and direction; and
c. Logs of visible emission checks.
(9 VAC 5-80-110 and Condition 24 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) -

Recor dkeeping - For each compliance procedure used (40 CFR 63.785(¢)(1), (2), (3), and (4)), the
permittee shall maintain records to demonstrate compliance with the chosen procedure.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.785(c), and Condition 21 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) -

Recor dkeeping and Reporting - The permittee shall comply with the applicable recordkeeping and
reporting requirementsin 40 CFR 63.10(a), (b), (d), and (f). Any owner that received approval
pursuant to 40 CFR 63.783(c) to use an add-on control system to control coating emissions shall aso
comply with the applicable requirements of 40 CFR 63.10(c) and (e).

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.788(a), and Condition 25 of the 6/26/02 permit)
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Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Oper ations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) -

Recor dkeeping - Each owner or operator of a major source shipbuilding or ship repair facility having
surface coating operations with less than 264 gallons annual marine coating usage shall record the total
volume of coating applied at the source to ships. Such records shall be compiled monthly and
maintained for a minimum of 5 years.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.788(b)(1), and Condition 26 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units#21, #22, #23 and #28) -
Recor dkeeping - Each owner or operator of an affected source shall compile records on a monthly
basis and maintain those records for aminimum of 5 years. At a minimum, these records shall include:

a.  All documentation supporting initial notification;

b. A copy of the affected source’ s implementation plan;

c. Thevolume of each low-usage-exempt coating applied;
d

Identification of the coatings used, their appropriate coating categories, and the applicable VOHAP
limit;

)

Certification of the as-supplied VOC content of each batch of coating;
f. A determination of whether containers meet the standards as described in 40 CFR 63.783(b)(2);

g. Theresults of any Method 24 of Appendix A or 40 CFR Part 60 or approved VOHAP
measurement test conducted on individual containers of coating, as applied; and

h. Any additional information, as determined by the compliance procedure(s) described in 40 CFR
63.785(c) that the permittee followed.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.788(b)(2), 40 CFR 63.788(b)(3), and Condition 24 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) -

Recor dkeeping - If the permittee detects a violation of the standard specified in 40 CFR 63.783, the
owner or operator shall, for the remainder of the reporting period during which the violation(s)
occurred, include the information listed in 40 CFR 63.788(b)(4) in the facility records.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.788(b)(4), and Condition 27 of the 6/26/02 permit)

Dry Dock Abrasive Blasting and Painting Operations (Units #21, #22, #23 and #28) - Semi-
Annual Reporting - Before the 60" day following completion of each 6-month period after the
compliance date specified in 40 CFR 63.784, the permittee shall submit areport for each of the
previous 6 months. The report shall include all of the information that must be retained pursuant to
paragraphs (b)(2) through (3) of 40 CFR 63.788, except for that specified in paragraphs (b)(2)(i)
through (ii), (b)(2)(v), (b)()(I)(A), (b)(3)(ii)(A), and (b)(3)(iii)(A). If aviolation is detected, the
source shall aso report the information specified in paragraph (b)(4) of 40 CFR 63.788 for the
reporting period during which the violation(s) occurred. To the extent possible, the report shall be
organized according to the compliance procedure(s) followed each month by the affected source. The
permittee shall submit the semi-annual reportsto the Director, Tidewater Regiona Office, postmarked
no later than the 60" day following the end of each semiannual period.

A copy of the semiannual report shall also be submitted to:

Associate Director

Office of Air Enforcement and Compliance Assistance (3AP20)
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency

Region 11

1650 Arch Street

Philadel phia, PA 19103-2029

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 40 CFR 63.788(c), and Condition 28 of the 6/26/02 permit)



Metro Machine Corporation
Permit Number: TRO-60134
October 27, 2014

Page 18

VI. Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b)

A. Limitations

50.

51.

52.

53.

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — L imitations -
Vapor control is required for each cold cleaner to remove, destroy, or prevent the discharge into the
atmosphere of at least 85% by weight of volatile organic compound emissions. Achievement of the
85% vapor control shall be done by the following:

a  Coversor enclosed remote reservoirs;
b. Drainage facilitiesto collect and return solvent to a closed container or a solvent cleaning machine;

c. A permanent label, summarizing the operating proceduresin 9V AC5-40-3290 C.2.a-c on/near the
cold cleaning unit(s);

d. If used, the solvent spray should be a solid, fluid stream (not a fine, atomized or shower type spray)
and at a pressure which does not cause excessive splashing.

(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-40-3280 C.1 & 2, and 9 VAC 5-40-3290.C.1.a-d)

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) —Limitations - The
following operating procedures for the cold cleaning units shall be followed:

a  Waste solvent should not be disposed of or transferred to another party, such that greater than 20%
of the waste (by weight) can evaporate to the atmosphere. Waste solvent shall be stored in closed
containersonly.

b. The cold cleaning unit cover should be closed whenever not handling partsin the cold cleaner.

c. Cleaned parts should drain for at least 15 seconds or until dripping ceases.
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-40-3280 C.1 & 2, and 9 VAC 5-40-3290.C.2.a-C)

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — Limitations -
Disposal of waste solvent from the cold cleaning units shall be done by one of the following:

a Reclamation (either by outside services or in-house); or

b. Incineration.
(9 VAC 5-80-110, 9 VAC 5-40-3280 C.1 & 2, and 9 VAC 5-40-3290.D)

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — Limitations - At all
times, the disposal of volatile organic compounds shall be accomplished by taking measures, to the
extent practicable, consistent with air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions. Volatile
organic compounds shall not be intentionally spilled, discarded in sewers which are not connected to a
treatment plant, or stored in open containers or handled in any other manner that would result in
evaporation beyond that consistent with air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions.

(9 VAC 5-50-20 F and 9 VAC 5-80-110)

B. Monitoring

54.

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — M onitoring - Each
degreasing unit will be inspected once per calendar year to ensure that the label with the operating
proceduresis placed on or near each degreasing unit.

(9VAC5-80-110E)
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Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — M onitoring - Each
degreasing unit will be inspected once per calendar year to ensure that each has a cover or enclosed
remote reservoir, and waste solvent from each unit is stored in closed containers.

(9VAC5-80-110E)

C. Recordkeeping

56.

Degreaser Operation Requirements (Units#24, #25a and b, and #27a and b) — Recor dkeeping -
The permittee shall maintain records of al emission data and operating parameters necessary to
demonstrate compliance with this permit. The content and format of such records shall be arranged
with the Director, Tidewater Regional Office. These records shall include, but are not limited to:

a.  Annual inspection results and any corrective actions taken; and
b. Method(s) of waste solvent disposal.

These records shall be available on site for inspection by the DEQ and shall be current for the most
recent 5 years.
(9 VAC 5-80-110)

VII.Facility Wide Conditions

A. Testing

57.

58.

Facility Wide Conditions - Testing - The permitted facility shall be constructed so asto alow for
emissions testing at any time using appropriate methods. Upon request from the Department, test ports
shall be provided at the appropriate locations.

(9 VAC 5-50-30 and 9 VAC 5-80-110)

Facility Wide Conditions - Testing - If further testing is conducted in addition to the monitoring
specified in this permit, the permittee shall use the appropriate method(s) in accordance with
procedures approved by the DEQ. Samples taken as required by this permit, or otherwise, shall be
anayzed in accordance with 1 VAC 30-45, Certification for Noncommercial Environmental
Laboratories, or 1 VAC 30-46, Accreditation for Commercial Environmental Laboratories.

(9 VAC 5-80-110)
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59. Insignificant Emission Units- The following emission units at the facility are identified in the
application as insignificant emission units under 9V AC5-80-720:

Unit | Emission Unit Citation Pollutant(s) Emitted | Rated Capacity
No. | Description (9VAC5-80-720B) | (9VAC5-80-720 C)

11 | Enclosed bead blaster in 9VAC5-80-720 B PM10 -
outside machine shop

12 Er:‘géosed bead blaster inboiler | g/ c5.80-720 8 PM10 -
Enclosed bead blaster in

13 | compressor / fire pump 9VAC5-80-720 B PM10 -
maintenance area

14 | Enclosed bedblasterinside | g/ a5 80.720 PM10 .
machine shop
Enclosed bead blaster in

15 electric shop 9VAC5-80-720 B PM10 -

16 | Air conditioner maintenance 9VAC5-80-720 B VOC -

66 | Electroplating in electric shop 9VAC5-80-720 B PM 1O|_,|'|Anl<3);gan| ¢ -

68 Woodworking operationsin 9VAC5-80-720 B PM10 i
carpenter shop

69 | Paint Mixingin paint shop 9VAC5-80-720B VOCs, VOHAPs -
Maintenance shop touch-up

71 | painting (90% hand-applied; 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
10% airless spray)
Covered Metro 88 degreasers

72 | (2) intool room (contains no 9VAC5-80-720 B None -
solvents)

73 | Spray can degreasers, deaners, | o5 c5 80720 VOCs, VOHAPs -
etc. in maintenance shop

74 | Spray can degreasers, dleaners, | g\ o5 80,7208 | VOCs, VOHAPs :
etc. in outside machine shop

75 | Spray can degreasers, cleaners, | gy A c5.80.7208 | VOCs, VOHAPs .
etc. in boiler shop

76 | SPray can degreasers, cleaners, | g\ a5 80.7208 | VOCs, VOHAPs .
etc. in inside machine shop

77 | Spray can degreasers, cleaners, | g2 580720 A VOCs, VOHAPS -
etc. in electric shop
Waste oil storagetank in

8la | hazardous waste storage 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
building next to OWTS #1
Waste oil storage tank located

81b next to OWTS #1 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
Waste oil storage tank located

8lc next to OWTSH2 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
Propane storage is on the south

gy |Sdeof OWTS#2andwelding | g/ 505807208 VOCs :
gas storage is on the north side
of OWTS#2
Underground gasoline storage

83a | tank near OWTS#2 and 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
gasoline loading pumps




Metro Machine Corporation
Permit Number: TRO-60134

October 27, 2014

Page 21
Unit | Emission Unit Citation Pollutant(s) Emitted | Rated Capacity
No. | Description (9VAC5-80-720B) | (9VAC5-80-720 C)
Underground diesel storage
83b | tank near OWTS#2 and diesd | 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
loading pumps
goa | Underground#2oil Sorage | o\ Ac5.80.720B | VOCs, VOHAPs :
tank near boiler room
gop | Underground #20il storage. | g\ A c5.80.720B | VOCs, VOHAPs :
tank near boiler room
OWTS#1 - Qil/water separator
93a | andtreatment systemincluding | 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -
processing tanks
OWTS#2 - Qil/water separator
93b | and treatment system including | 9VAC5-80-720 B VOCs, VOHAPs -

processing tanks

These emission units are presumed to be in compliance with al requirements of the federal Clean Air
Act asmay apply. Based on this presumption, no monitoring, recordkeeping, or reporting shall be
required for these emission units in accordance with 9 VAC 5-80-110.
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I X. Permit Shield & Inapplicable Requirements

60.

Permit Shield & Inapplicable Requirements - Compliance with the provisions of this permit shall be
deemed compliance with all applicable requirementsin effect as of the permit issuance date as
identified in this permit. This permit shield covers only those applicable requirements covered by
terms and conditions in this permit and the following requirements which have been specifically
identified as being not applicable to this permitted facility:

Citation Title of Citation Description of Applicability
40 CFR 60 ﬁ,tﬁﬂda?fgsgénﬁgﬂaﬁ;m tiS(;E:I” Boilerswereinstaled prior to
Subpart Dc : : 6/9/1989.

generating units

National Emission Standards for Chromium
40 CFR 63 Emissions From Hard and Decorative Electroplating facility does not do
Subpart N Chromium Electroplating and Chromium any chrome plating.

Anodizing Tanks
40 CFR 63 National Emission Standards for Hazardous Thisis amajor SOUrce, so area source
Subpart Air Pollutants: Area Source Standards for rules do not aool '
WWWWWW | Plating and Polishing Operations apy-

Nothing in this permit shield shall alter the provisions of 8303 of the federa Clean Air Act, including
the authority of the administrator under that section, the liability of the owner for any violation of
applicable requirements prior to or at the time of permit issuance, or the ability to obtain information by

0) the administrator pursuant to 8114 of the federal Clean Air Act,

(i) the Board pursuant to §10.1-1314 or §10.1-1315 of the Virginia Air Pollution Control Law, or
(iii) the Department pursuant to 810.1-1307.3 of the Virginia Air Pollution Control Law.

(9 VAC 5-80-140)
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X. General Conditions

61.

62.

63.

General Conditions - Federal Enforceability -All terms and conditions in this permit are enforceable
by the administrator and citizens under the federal Clean Air Act, except those that have been
designated as only state-enforceable.

(9 VAC5-80-110N)

General Conditions - Permit Expiration - This permit has a fixed term of five years. The expiration
date shall be the date five years from the date of issuance. Unless the owner submitsatimely and
complete application for renewal to the Department consistent with the requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-
80, the right of the facility to operate shall be terminated upon permit expiration.

a. General Conditions- Permit Expiration - The owner shall submit an application for renewal at
least six months but no earlier than eighteen months prior to the date of permit expiration.

b. General Conditions- Permit Expiration - If an applicant submits atimely and complete
application for an initial permit or renewal under this section, the failure of the source to have a
permit or the operation of the source without a permit shall not be aviolation of Article 1, Part 1l of
9 VAC 5 Chapter 80, until the Board takes final action on the application under 9 VAC 5-80-150.

c. General Conditions- Permit Expiration - No source shall operate after the timethat it is required
to submit atimely and complete application under subsections C and D of 9 VAC 5-80-80 for a
renewal permit, except in compliance with a permit issued under Article 1, Part Il of 9 VAC5
Chapter 80.

d. General Conditions- Permit Expiration - If an applicant submits atimely and complete
application under section 9 VAC 5-80-80 for a permit renewal but the Board fails to issue or deny
the renewal permit before the end of the term of the previous permit, (i) the previous permit shall
not expire until the renewal permit has been issued or denied and (ii) al the terms and conditions of
the previous permit, including any permit shield granted pursuant to 9 VAC 5-80-140, shall remain
in effect from the date the application is determined to be complete until the renewal permit is
issued or denied.

e. General Conditions- Permit Expiration - The protection under subsections F 1 and F 5 (ii) of
section 9 VAC 5-80-80 F shall ceaseto apply if, subsequent to the completeness determination
made pursuant section 9 VAC 5-80-80 D, the applicant fails to submit by the deadline specified in
writing by the Board any additional information identified as being needed to process the
application.

(9VAC5-80-80B, C, and F, 9 VAC 5-80-110 D, and 9 VAC 5-80-170 B)

General Conditions - Recor dkeeping and Reporting - All records of monitoring information
maintained to demonstrate compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit shall contain, where
applicable, the following:

The date, place as defined in the permit, and time of sampling or measurements,
The date(s) analyses were performed,;

The company or entity that performed the anayses;

The analytical techniques or methods used;

The results of such analyses; and

. The operating conditions existing at the time of sampling or measurement.
VAC5-80-110 F)

O™ ® 2 0 T p
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General Conditions -Recor dkeeping and Reporting - Records of all monitoring data and support
information shall be retained for at |east five years from the date of the monitoring sample,
measurement, report, or application. Support information includes all calibration and maintenance
recordsand all original strip-chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation, and copies of
al reports required by the permit.

(9VAC5-80-110F)

General Conditions -Recor dkeeping and Reporting - The permittee shall submit the results of
monitoring contained in any applicable requirement to DEQ no later than March 1 and September 1
of each calendar year. Thisreport must be signed by a responsible officia, consistent with 9 VAC 5-
80-80 G, and shall include:

a. Thetime period included in the report. The time periods to be addressed are January 1 to June 30
and July 1 to December 31.

b. All deviations from permit requirements. For purpose of this permit, deviations include, but are not
limited to:

i. Exceedance of emissions limitations or operational restrictions,

ii. Excursionsfrom control device operating parameter requirements, as documented by
continuous emission monitoring, periodic monitoring, or Compliance A ssurance Monitoring
(CAM) which indicates an exceedance of emission limitations or operational restrictions; or,

iii. Failureto meet monitoring, recordkeeping, or reporting requirements contained in this permit.

c. If therewere no deviations from permit conditions during the time period, the permittee shall
include a statement in the report that “no deviations from permit requirements occurred during this
semi-annual reporting period.”

(9VAC5-80-110 F)

General Conditions - Annual Compliance Certification - Exclusive of any reporting required to
assure compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit or as part of a schedule of compliance
contained in this permit, the permittee shall submit to EPA and DEQ no later than March 1 each
calendar year acertification of compliance with al terms and conditions of this permit including
emission limitation standards or work practices for the period ending December 31. The compliance
certification shall comply with such additional requirements that may be specified pursuant to
8114(a)(3) and 8504(b) of the federal Clean Air Act. The permittee shall maintain a copy of the
certification for five (5) years after submittal of the certification. This certification shall be signed by a
responsible officia, consistent with 9 VAC 5-80-80 G, and shall include:

a. Thetime period included in the certification. Thetime period to be addressed is January 1 to
December 31.

b. Theidentification of each term or condition of the permit that is the basis of the certification.

o

The compliance status.

d. Whether compliance was continuous or intermittent, and if not continuous, documentation of each
incident of non-compliance.

e. Consistent with subsection 9V AC5-80-110 E, the method or methods used for determining the
compliance status of the source at the time of certification and over the reporting period.

f.  Such other facts as the permit may require to determine the compliance status of the source.
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g. One copy of the annual compliance certification shall be submitted to EPA in electronic format
only. The certification document should be sent to the following el ectronic mailing address:

R3_APD_Permits@epa.gov
(9VAC5-80-110K.5)

General Conditions - Permit Deviation Reporting - The permittee shall notify the Director, TRO
Regiona Office within four daytime business hours after discovery of any deviations from permit
requirements which may cause excess emissions for more than one hour, including those attributable to
upset conditions as may be defined in this permit. In addition, within 14 days of the discovery, the
permittee shall provide awritten statement explaining the problem, any corrective actions or
preventative measures taken, and the estimated duration of the permit deviation. The occurrence
should also be reported in the next semi-annua compliance monitoring report pursuant to Condition 76
of this permit.

(9VAC 5-80-110 F.2 and 9 VAC 5-80-250)

General Conditions - Failure/Malfunction Reporting - In the event that any affected facility or
related air pollution control equipment fails or malfunctions in such a manner that may cause excess
emissions for more than one hour, the owner shall, as soon as practicable but no later than four daytime
business hours after the malfunction is discovered, notify the Director, TRO Regional Office by
facsimile transmission, telephone or telegraph of such failure or malfunction and shall within 14 days
of discovery provide awritten statement giving al pertinent facts, including the estimated duration of
the breakdown. Owners subject to the requirements of 9 VAC 5-40-50 C and 9 VAC 5-50-50 C are not
required to provide the written statement prescribed in this paragraph for facilities subject to the
monitoring requirements of 9 VAC 5-40-40 and 9 VAC 5-50-40. When the condition causing the
failure or malfunction has been corrected and the equipment is again in operation, the owner shall
notify the Director, TRO Regional Office.

(9VAC5-20-180C)

General Conditions - Sever ability - The terms of this permit are severable. If any condition,
requirement or portion of the permit is held invalid or inapplicable under any circumstance, such
invalidity or inapplicability shall not affect or impair the remaining conditions, requirements, or
portions of the permit.

(9VAC5-80-110G.1)

General Conditions - Duty to Comply - The permittee shall comply with all terms and conditions of
this permit. Any permit noncompliance constitutes a violation of the federal Clean Air Act or the
Virginia Air Pollution Control Law or both and is ground for enforcement action; for permit
termination, revocation and reissuance, or modification; or, for denia of a permit renewal application.
(9VAC5-80-110G.2)

General Conditions- Need to Halt or Reduce Activity not a Defense -1t shall not be a defense for a
permittee in an enforcement action that it would have been necessary to halt or reduce the permitted
activity in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of this permit.

(9VAC5-80-110G.3)

General Conditions - Permit Modification -A physical change in, or change in the method of
operation of, this stationary source may be subject to permitting under State Regulations 9 VAC 5-80-
50, 9 VAC 5-80-1100, 9 VAC 5-80-1605, or 9 VAC 5-80-2000 and may require a permit modification
and/or revisions except as may be authorized in any approved aternative operating scenarios.

(9 VAC 5-80-190 and 9 VAC 5-80-260)



73.

74.

75.

76.

7.

Metro Machine Corporation
Permit Number: TRO-60134
October 27, 2014

Page 26

General Conditions - Property Rights - The permit does not convey any property rights of any sort,
or any exclusive privilege.
(9VAC5-80-110G.5)

General Conditions - Duty to Submit I nfor mation - The permittee shall furnish to the Board, within
areasonable time, any information that the Board may request in writing to determine whether cause
exists for modifying, revoking and reissuing, or terminating the permit or to determine compliance with
the permit. Upon request, the permittee shall aso furnish to the Board copies of records required to be
kept by the permit and, for information claimed to be confidential, the permittee shall furnish such
recordsto the Board along with a claim of confidentiality.

(9VAC 5-80-110 G.6)

General Conditions - Duty to Submit Information - Any document (including reports) requiredin a
permit condition to be submitted to the Board shall contain a certification by a responsible officia that
meets the requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-80 G.

(9VAC5-80-110K.1)

General Conditions - Duty to Pay Permit Fees - The owner of any source for which a permit under 9
VAC 5-80-50 through 9 VAC 5-80-300 was issued shall pay permit fees consistent with the
requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-310 through 9 VAC 5-80-350. The actual emissions covered by the
permit program fees for the preceding year shall be calculated by the owner and submitted to the
Department by April 15 of each year. The calculations and final amount of emissions are subject to
verification and final determination by the Department.

(9VAC 5-80-110 H and 9 VAC 5-80-340 C)

General Conditions - Fugitive Dust Emission Standar ds - During the operation of a stationary
source or any other building, structure, facility, or installation, no owner or other person shall cause or
permit any materials or property to be handled, transported, stored, used, constructed, altered, repaired,
or demolished without taking reasonable precautions to prevent particulate matter from becoming
airborne. Such reasonabl e precautions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

a.  Use, where possible, of water or chemicals for control of dust in the demalition of existing
buildings or structures, construction operations, the grading of roads, or the clearing of land;

b. Application of asphalt, water, or suitable chemicals on dirt roads, materials stockpiles, and other
surfaces which may create airborne dust; the paving of roadways and the maintaining of themin a
clean condition;

c. Instalation and use of hoods, fans, and fabric filters to enclose and vent the handling of dusty
materia. Adequate containment methods shall be employed during sandblasting or similar
operations,

d. Open equipment for conveying or transporting material likely to create objectionable air pollution
when airborne shall be covered or treated in an equally effective manner at al timeswhenin
motion; and

e. Theprompt removal of spilled or tracked dirt or other materials from paved streets and of dried
sediments resulting from soil erosion.
(9 VAC 5-50-90)



78.

79.

80.

81.

Metro Machine Corporation
Permit Number: TRO-60134
October 27, 2014

Page 27

General Conditions - Startup, Shutdown, and Malfunction - At al times, including periods of
startup, shutdown, and soot blowing, and malfunction, owners shall, to the extent practicable, maintain
and operate any affected facility including associated air pollution control equipment in a manner
consistent with air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions. Determination of whether
acceptable operating and maintenance procedures are being used will be based on information available
to the Board, which may include, but is not limited to, monitoring results, opacity observations, review
of operating and maintenance procedures, and inspection of the source.

(9VAC 5-50-20 E and 9 VAC 5-40-20 E)

General Conditions - Alter native Operating Scenarios - Contemporaneously with making a change
between reasonably anticipated operating scenariosidentified in this permit, the permittee shall record
in alog at the permitted facility arecord of the scenario under which it is operating. The permit shield
described in 9 VAC 5-80-140 shall extend to al terms and conditions under each such operating
scenario. Theterms and conditions of each such alternative scenario shall meet al applicable
requirementsincluding the requirements of 9 VAC 5 Chapter 80, Article 1.

(9VAC 5-80-110)

General Conditions - Inspection and Entry Requirements - The permittee shall allow DEQ, upon
presentation of credentials and other documents as may be required by law, to perform the following:

a. Enter upon the premises where the source islocated or emissions-related activity is conducted, or
where records must be kept under the terms and conditions of the permit.

b. Haveaccessto and copy, a reasonable times, any records that must be kept under the terms and
conditions of the permit.

c. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities, equipment (including monitoring and air pollution control
equipment), practices, or operations regulated or required under the permit.

d. Sample or monitor at reasonable times substances or parameters for the purpose of assuring
compliance with the permit or applicable requirements.
(9VAC5-80-110K.2)

General Conditions - Reopening For Cause - The permit shall be reopened by the Board if additional
federal requirements become applicable to a major source with aremaining permit term of three years
or more. Such reopening shall be completed no later than 18 months after promulgation of the
applicable requirement. No such reopening isrequired if the effective date of the requirement is later
than the date on which the permit is due to expire, unlessthe original permit or any of its terms and
conditions has been extended pursuant to 9 VAC 5-80-80 F. The conditions for reopening a permit are
asfollows:

a. Thepermit shall be reopened if the Board or the administrator determines that the permit contains a
material mistake or that inaccurate statements were made in establishing the emissions standards or
other terms or conditions of the permit.

b. The permit shall be reopened if the administrator or the Board determines that the permit must be
revised or revoked to assure compliance with the applicable requirements.

c. Thepermit shall not be reopened by the Board if additional applicable state requirements become
applicable to amajor source prior to the expiration date established under 9 VAC 5-80-110 D.
(9VAC5-80-110L)
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General Conditions - Permit Availability - Within five days after receipt of the issued permit, the
permittee shall maintain the permit on the premises for which the permit has been issued and shall
make the permit immediately available to DEQ upon request.

(9VAC5-80-150E)

General Conditions - Transfer of Permits- No person shall transfer a permit from one location to
another, unless authorized under 9 VAC 5-80-130, or from one piece of equipment to another.
(9 VAC 5-80-160)

General Conditions - Transfer of Permits - In the case of atransfer of ownership of astationary
source, the new owner shall comply with any current permit issued to the previous owner. The new
owner shall notify the Board of the change in ownership within 30 days of the transfer and shall
comply with the requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-200.

(9 VAC 5-80-160)

General Conditions - Transfer of Permits - In the case of a name change of a stationary source, the
owner shall comply with any current permit issued under the previous source name. The owner shall
notify the Board of the change in source name within 30 days of the name change and shall comply
with the requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-200.

(9 VAC 5-80-160)

General Conditions - Malfunction as an Affirmative Defense - A mafunction constitutes an
affirmative defense to an action brought for noncompliance with technology-based emission limitations
if the requirements of Condition 101 are met.

(9 VAC 5-80-250)

General Conditions - Malfunction as an Affirmative Defense - The affirmative defense of
malfunction shall be demonstrated by the permittee through properly signed, contemporaneous
operating logs, or other relevant evidence that show the following:

a A mafunction occurred and the permittee can identify the cause or causes of the malfunction.
b. The permitted facility was at the time being properly operated.

¢. During the period of the mafunction the permittee took all reasonable stepsto minimize levels of
emissions that exceeded the emission standards, or other requirements in the permit.

d. The permittee notified the Board of the malfunction within two working days following the time
when the emission limitations were exceeded due to the malfunction. This notification shall
include a description of the malfunction, any steps taken to mitigate emissions, and corrective
actionstaken. The notification may be delivered either orally or in writing. The naotification may
be delivered by electronic mail, facsimile transmission, telephone, or any other method that allows
the permittee to comply with the deadline. This notification fulfills the requirements of 9 VAC 5-
80-110 F.2.b to report promptly deviations from permit requirements. This notification does not
release the permittee from the malfunction reporting requirement under 9 VAC 5-20-180 C.

(9 VAC 5-80-250)

General Conditions - Malfunction as an Affirmative Defense - In any enforcement proceeding, the
permittee seeking to establish the occurrence of a malfunction shall have the burden of proof.
(9 VAC 5-80-250)

General Conditions - Malfunction as an Affirmative Defense - The provisions of this section arein
addition to any malfunction, emergency or upset provision contained in any applicable requirement.
(9 VAC 5-80-250)
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General Conditions - Permit Revocation or Termination for Cause- A permit may be revoked or
terminated prior to its expiration date if the owner knowingly makes material misstatementsin the
permit application or any amendments thereto or if the permittee violates, fails, neglects or refuses to
comply with the terms or conditions of the permit, any applicable requirements, or the applicable
provisions of 9 VAC 5 Chapter 80 Article 1. The Board may suspend, under such conditions and for
such period of time as the Board may prescribe any permit for any grounds for revocation or
termination or for any other violations of these regulations.

(9 VAC 5-80-190 C and 9 VAC 5-80-260)

General Conditions - Duty to Supplement or Correct Application - Any applicant who failsto
submit any relevant facts or who has submitted incorrect information in a permit application shall, upon
becoming aware of such failure or incorrect submittal, promptly submit such supplementary facts or
corrections. An gpplicant shall also provide additional information as necessary to address any
requirements that become applicable to the source after the date a compl ete application was filed but
prior to release of adraft permit.

(9VAC5-80-80 E)

General Conditions - Stratospheric Ozone Protection - If the permittee handles or emits one or more
Class | or Il substances subject to a standard promulgated under or established by Title VI
(Stratospheric Ozone Protection) of the federal Clean Air Act, the permittee shall comply with all
applicable sections of 40 CFR Part 82, Subparts A to F.

(40 CFR Part 82, Subparts A-F)

General Conditions - Emissions Trading - Where the trading of emissions increases and decreases
within the permitted facility is to occur within the context of this permit and to the extent that the
regulations provide for trading such increases and decreases without a case-by-case approval of each
emissions trade:

a All termsand conditions required under 9 VAC 5-80-110, except subsection N, shall be included to
determine compliance.

b. Thepermit shield described in 9 VAC 5-80-140 shall extend to al terms and conditions that allow
such increases and decreases in emissions,

c. Theowner shall meet all applicable requirements including the requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-50
through 9 VAC 5-80-300.
(9VAC5-80-1101)

Xl. State-Only Enfor ceable Requirements

94.

95.

State-Only Enforceable Requirements - The following terms and conditions are not required under
the federal Clean Air Act or under any of its applicable federal requirements, and are not subject to the
requirements of 9 VAC 5-80-290 concerning review of proposed permits by EPA and draft permits by
affected states.

Odor:
a  9VAC 5-40-140 - Existing Source Standard for Odor

b. 9VAC 5-50-140 - New and Modified Source Standard for Odorous Emissions
(9 VAC 5-80-110 N and 9 VAC 5-80-300)



